#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Docket No. 83690

OSCAR GOMEZ,

Electronically Filed May 09 2022 10:38 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Petitioner-Appellant,

VS.

#### THE STATE OF NEVADA,

#### Respondent.

Appeal from an Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Cristina Silva, District Judge

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Jim Hoffman Nevada Bar #13896 PO Box 231246 Las Vegas, NV 89105 Tel. (702) 483-1816

Email: jim.hoffman.esq@gmail.com

**Attorney for Appellant** 

#

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to adequately explain Mr.
   Gomez' sentencing exposure, resulting in a constitutionally invalid involuntary plea.
- 2. Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate and obtain pretrial evidentiary rulings.

3. Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to file a motion to withdraw Mr. Gomez' guilty plea.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The instant case involves the death by shooting of Shawn Manymules in Las Vegas in 2016. Manymules and a friend were drinking and using drugs, while separately at the same time Gomez and a friend were drinking and using drugs. PCR 29-33.<sup>1</sup> They encountered each other at a convenience store and Gomez' friend began to fight with Manymules. After Manymules won the fight, he was shot and later died. *Id*.

Gomez was charged with murder with a deadly weapon as a result of the affray. PCR 1. In 2018, he pled guilty to second degree murder with a deadly weapon and in the course of doing so stated that he had shot Manymules. PCR 24-26. He was adjudged guilty and sentenced to 10 to life, with a consecutive 8-20 year sentence for the deadly weapon enhancement. PCR 47.

Gomez filed a timely direct appeal of his conviction, which was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. PCR 51. He then filed a timely petition for post-conviction relief (and subsequently two others). PCR 55. The district court ordered an evidentiary hearing on one of the claims, namely the issue of whether trial counsel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the appellate appendix are denominated as "PCR ##".

failed to properly explain the sentencing structure. PCR 158. After the evidentiary hearing, the district court denied all claims. PCR 273. This appeal timely follows.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

During the course of Oscar Gomez' pretrial proceedings, his trial counsel developed personal conflicts with members of his family. These conflicts led her to perform deficiently, most notably by failing to adequately explain the sentence structure that Mr. Gomez would face if he pled. This error, in conjunction with the hasty circumstances of the plea hearing, constituted ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Trial Counsel Was Ineffective in Failing to Adequately Explain Mr.Gomez' Sentence Structure.

#### A. Legal Background

The Sixth Amendment provides the right to effective counsel. The test for whether counsel was effective has two parts. First, effective counsel operates at or above an "objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984); *Williams v. State*, 103 Nev. 227, 229 (1987). This standard is determined with reference to prevailing professional norms. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. If counsel's actions fall within the realm of "sound trial strategy,"

then a court should be "highly deferential" in reviewing them. *Id.* at 689.

However, actions which are not strategic choices (or are choices, made unreasonably) constitute error which does not merit such deference. *Id.* at 690-91. The second part of the test is prejudice. Counsel's error must create a "reasonable probability" of a different result. *Id.* at 694-95. The right to effective assistance of counsel extends to the plea bargaining process. *Lafler v. Cooper*, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1384 (2012).

"Because an intelligent assessment of the relative advantages of pleading guilty is frequently impossible without the assistance of an attorney, counsel have a duty to supply criminal defendants with necessary and accurate information." An inaccurate prediction is not ineffective assistance on its own, but can be when mixed with erroneous advice on the possible consequences of going to trial. *Iaea v. Sunn*, 800 F.2d 861, 865 (9th Cir. 1986) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Failure to review a guilty plea with a client to ensure they understand it constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. *Rubio v. State*, 194 P.3d 1224 (Nev. 2008).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel present a mixed question of law and fact, which this Court reviews independently. *Foster v. State*, 111 P.3d 1083, 1086 (2005).

//

#### **B.** Factual Background

In 2018, Oscar Gomez was a twenty-two year old who had dropped out of ninth grade (and then reenrolled and dropped out again in eleventh grade without attending class regularly). He had no criminal history except for a misdemeanor for marijuana possession. PCR 242-43. In the time leading up to his plea agreement, he met with his trial counsel, who conveyed to him the State's unwritten offer of second degree murder with a deadly weapon. Specifically, she told him that he was facing a sentence of 10 to life and 8-20 on the deadly weapon enhancement "together." PCR 109. Oscar's mother reported similarly, that trial counsel had told her that Oscar would receive a sentence of 10 to life and would be eligible for parole in ten years. PCR 115, 248-249. Oscar's sister testified that trial counsel also did not explain to the family that Oscar's sentences would run consecutively instead of concurrently. PCR 253.

The plea was not reduced to writing until the calendar call when Mr. Gomez actually pled guilty. Due to scheduling issues, the only way the district court was willing to accept the plea that day was if the prosecutor physically typed up a copy and printed it within 15 minutes, which he did. PCR 14-17. Oscar's trial counsel handed him the copy, told him to read it, and walked away. He flipped through it but did not understand the consecutive nature of the sentences. PCR 109-110. He pled guilty on the belief that his sentences would be "together" and that his front

end sentence would thus only be 10 years. *Id.* He felt that he was being rushed into accepting the plea. *Id.* 

At the plea canvass, trial counsel noted that Oscar seemed "unsure" and "shaky" about the plea deal. Nevertheless, when the district court canvassed him about the plea he indicated his assent, including to the court's specific statement that "the very least amount of time I could give you on the bottom end is 11 years." PCR 19-27. When asked about the canvass, Oscar testified that "I didn't really know what was going on. I mean, I was a bit confused that day, everything happened so fast. She [trial counsel] told me in court to make my mind up, you know, this is my last chance. And that if I didn't decide then, that, you know, I could spend the rest of my life in prison and I got scared and I guess that's it. I was confused about what was going on during the rest of the proceeding." He also stated that he felt pressured and that he was believing what trial counsel had told him about the sentence being ten years. PCR 246.

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel stated that she had gone through all of the various permutations of a sentence and conviction that Mr. Gomez could get, multiple times and even to the point of quizzing him about specific aspects of his sentencing exposure or how good time credits worked. PCR 222, 225. Oscar's testimony at the hearing largely tracked with this account. However, he reiterated that trial counsel "never really discussed the concurrent or the consecutive to me

that well. I didn't understand it." PCR 241-42. When asked to describe the specific explanation trial counsel did give, Oscar expressed his understanding as "She told me that I was young and that I would be out in my early 30s and that I'll just do 10 and be eligible to go out on the streets." PCR 242. He also disputed that trial counsel had gone so far as to quiz him, saying that she had never quizzed him once. PCR 243.

There was also evidence of personality conflicts between trial counsel and Oscar's family. For instance, his sister reported that trial counsel appeared "surprised yet disgusted" by her pregnancy at a young age; she felt belittled and believed that this was symptomatic of the lack of consistency and communication displayed by trial counsel. PCR 118. Oscar's mother also described conflict in the relationship. PCR 249-250. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel stated that she did not have a positive relationship with Oscar's family "because they called and yelled at me all of the time." PCR 235-36.

#### C. Analysis

Both Oscar and his lawyer agreed for the most part on the content of their interactions. She visited him a number of times and gave an exhaustive list of potential sentences he might receive. Additionally it was uncontested that he only had a very short amount of time to actually read the written plea agreement. The

disagreement between the two accounts is narrow, but in this context quite legally relevant.

Oscar has repeatedly and consistently maintained that he did not understand that his sentences would run consecutively instead of concurrently. In his account of the discussions, he stated that his trial counsel told him his sentences would run "together." This is a natural word for a lawyer to use in this context (after all there is no separation between two consecutive sentences – they do in fact run together), but it is also a natural word for a non-lawyer to misunderstand given the technical way in which it is being used here.

At the time of the plea, Oscar was 22 years old, with a limited education and no experience with the legal system outside of a misdemeanor marijuana conviction. It was reasonably foreseeable that he would have trouble understanding a technical aspect of his situation. This is especially true in the context of trial counsel's discussions, which were not limited solely to this particular issue but included many different permutations of possible sentences and thus added to the technical complexity. Trial counsel herself realized that Oscar was having trouble understanding it, which is why she specifically noted making multiple attempts to try and explain the situation. But despite this, she never adequately made sure that Oscar did in fact understand his situation.

Failure to ensure that Oscar understood what he was pleading to was ineffective assistance of counsel. It was error because counsel had a duty to make sure he understood, and it was prejudicial because if not for this mistake, Oscar would have gone to trial. Oscar's Sixth Amendment right was violated as a result.

# II. Trial Counsel Was Ineffective in Failing to Investigate and Obtain Pretrial Evidentiary Hearings.

As discussed above, ineffective assistance has two parts under *Strickland*; deficient performance and prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688-94 (1984). "Counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations." *Id.* at 691. A reasonable investigation must be thorough. Just because an attorney has "some information," they cannot reasonably "make a tactical choice not to present a mitigation defense." *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 527 (2003).

Courts have found a lack of investigation to constitute an unreasonable choice, undeserving of deference, in a number of circumstances. In *Bemore v*. *Chappell*, the Ninth Circuit found that counsel's decision to fully and adequately investigate one line of defense was not a justification for their decision to inadequately investigate a second line of defense. 788 F.3d 1151, 1174 (9th Cir. 2015). Another case (discussed above in a different context) is *Caro v. Calderon*, 165 F.3d 1223 (9th Cir. 1998). Caro's trial counsel was found ineffective due to a

failure to adequately investigate the possibility that repeated exposure to toxic pesticides could reduce culpability. *Id.* at 1226.

In *State v. Love*, this Court found ineffective assistance of counsel due to a failure to interview a number of willing potential witnesses, and disagreed with the State's characterization of this failure as a "tactical decision." 109 Nev. 1136, 1137-38, 1140 (1993). This tracks with the U.S. Supreme Court's finding of ineffective assistance of counsel in *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362 (2000). The *Taylor* Court found that failure to investigate was deficient performance even though the uninvestigated information contained information that was damaging to the defendant's case as well as helpful. *Id.* at 396. Failure to investigate alternate suspects can also constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. *Jones v. Wood*, 207 F.3d 557 (9th Cir. 2000).

Failure to challenge a suggestive line-up can constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. *Thomas v. Varner*, 428 F.3d 491 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 2005). Admission of irrelevant weapons into evidence is reversible error under *United States v. Green*, 648 F.2d 587 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981), which logically implies that the allowance of this admission is ineffective assistance of counsel. Denial of post-conviction relief presents a mixed question of law and fact, which this Court reviews independently. *Foster v. State*, 111 P.3d 1083, 1086 (2005).

Trial counsel failed to investigate two specific factual issues which Mr. Gomez identified and wanted her to investigate.<sup>2</sup> First, in the video obtained at the time of the shooting, it was not immediately clear whether Mr. Gomez was the shooter and another person was present and walking away from the scene of the crime at the same time. PCR 76-77, 108. Additionally, Oscar identified an eyewitness to the shooting who stated that the shooter was wearing different clothing from what Oscar was wearing that night. Even though that person gave a voluntary statement to the police, trial counsel failed to interview the witness. PCR 79-81, 108.

Trial counsel also failed to file two pretrial evidentiary motions that Mr. Gomez requested. First, the photo line-up was impermissibly suggestive, as it contained Oscar's photo alongside dissimilar individuals. PCR 77-78, 108. Additionally, when the police searched Mr. Gomez' house they found a shell casing which was impounded as "evidence" even though there was no shell casing

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The undersigned notes that in the district court case, he was not appointed until after Judge Adair had announced her denial of the claims in Sections II and III. When the undersigned was appointed, Judge Silva expressed that she was adopting Judge Adair's conclusion and would also deny the claims. Thus, the undersigned was unable to further develop the factual record and supplement Mr. Gomez' pro se argument on these issues. If the Court grants remand the undersigned would welcome the opportunity to do so.

found at the scene of the shooting and the bullet was unavailable. Trial counsel also failed to file a motion to exclude this bullet as irrelevant. PCR 78-79, 108.

Failure to investigate these issues and file these motions was error. The investigations would not have been difficult or onerous, and counsel already had the voluntary statement of the witness in front of her. The failure to investigate deprived Oscar and his counsel of a full, adequate picture, vitiating the voluntariness of the plea. In addition, counsel's failure to investigate and to litigate the evidentiary issues pretrial led to him feeling pressured and coerced into taking the plea. This was prejudicial error in violation of the Sixth Amendment.

# III. Trial Counsel's Failure to File a Motion to Withdraw the Guilty Plea Was Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

As discussed above, under *Strickland* counsel is ineffective when their actions constitute prejudicial error. Nevada statute provides that a plea may be withdrawn before sentencing, or at the court's discretion to correct a manifest injustice after sentencing. NRS 176.165.

After feeling pressured into pleading guilty, Oscar reconsidered his decision and wrote a letter, asking for a motion to withdraw the plea to be filed. PCR 98-100, 119-120. Failure to file a motion to withdraw the guilty plea at this point was prejudicial error in violation of Oscar's Sixth Amendment right.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Oscar Gomez did not want to plead guilty and did not sufficiently understand his sentencing structure. This rendered his plea involuntary and constituted ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of his rights under the US and Nevada Constitutions. Given this, he respectfully asks the Court to vacate his conviction and remand for further proceedings.