IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jun 07 2022 10:13 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

OSCAR GOMEZ,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 83690

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JIM HOFFMAN, ESQ. Nevada Bar #013896 PO Box 231246 Las Vegas, Nevada 89105 (702) 483-1816

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) as Appellant failed to satisfy either Strickland prong. Appellant claims his trial counsel was infective for several reasons: (1) for failing to adequately explain that he would serve consecutive sentences; (2) for failing to investigate and file pretrial motions; and (3) for failing to file a motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

Appellant's first claim fails because it is belied by the record. The district court held an evidentiary hearing specifically to determine whether counsel adequately explained the sentencing structure to Appellant. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that she met with Appellant over twenty times always with either her investigator or another attorney from her office. On multiple occasions counsel explained sentencing to Appellant and that he demonstrated he understood he would serve consecutive sentences. This is corroborated by Appellant's own witnesses – his sisters. Both of Appellant's sisters testified that they understood that Appellant would serve his second-degree murder and then a few

more years for the weapon enhancement. Appellant's and his family's understanding is further evidenced by one of the sister's letter who wrote it was her and Appellant's understanding "that he would be sentenced for 10 years, *plus an added two for gun enhancement charges.*" Thus, the district court appropriately found that counsel was not deficient in explaining the sentencing structure to Appellant.

Appellant's second claim contained sub-claims – counsel's failure to investigate an alternative suspect and interview a witness and file pretrial motions. The district court appropriately denied Appellant's claim regarding the alternative suspect because he failed to raise the issue on direct appeal. Bolden v. State, 99 Nev. 181, 659 P.2d 886 (1983). The rest of the claims were denied because they were belied by the record and/or meritless. The record, including the GPA, plea canvass, and testimony at the evidentiary hearing, demonstrated Appellant and counsel discussed possible defenses and Appellant's satisfaction with counsel's representation. Notwithstanding Appellant's own admission of strategizing with counsel and his satisfaction with her performance, Appellant failed to show how counsel's failure to investigate or file motions would have been successful given that Appellant was identified as the shooter and caught on surveillance video holding a gun.

Lastly, Appellant attempted to show counsel failed to file a motion for withdrawal of guilty plea prior to sentencing at his request by providing an undated

and unaddressed letter. The letter stated he had been transferred to a different prison, which contradicted his claim that he requested counsel to file the motion prior to sentencing. The self-serving letter amounted to nothing but a bare and naked assertion.

Therefore, this Court should affirm the district court's denial of Appellant's Petition as the district court properly found Appellant failed to prove either Strickland prong in any of his claims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT COUNSEL ADEQUATELY EXPLAINED TO APPELLANT THAT HIS SENTENCES WERE CONSECUTIVE

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). This Court reviews a district court's denial of a habeas petition for abuse of discretion. Rubio v. State, 124 Nev. 1032, 1047, 194 P.3d 1224, 1234 (2008). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). This Court must give deference to the factual findings made by the district court if they are supported by the record. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

Appellant contends his trial counsel, Ms. Monti Levy, was ineffective for failing to adequately explain that his sentences for second-degree murder and weapon enhancement would run consecutively. Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 7-9. Appellant further contends counsel's error prejudiced him because but for this mistake, Appellant would have gone to trial. AOB at 9. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying this claim because the claim is belied by the GPA, plea canvass transcript, and the evidentiary hearing specifically held to determine this matter.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under Strickland, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable

probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). "Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. See Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002). Further, a defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately investigate must show how a

<u>Molina v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). A defendant is not entitled to a particular "relationship" with his attorney. <u>Morris v. Slappy</u>, 461 U.S. 1, 14, 103 S. Ct. 1610, 1617 (1983).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." Id. To be effective, the constitution "does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade." United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. "Strategic choices made

by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); <u>see also Ford v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

Claims for relief devoid of specific factual allegations are "bare" and "naked," and are insufficient to warrant relief, as are those claims belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "[Petitioner] *must* allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition[.]...Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause [the] petition to be dismissed." NRS 34.735(6) (emphasis added).

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-65, 2068). This portion of the test is slightly modified when the convictions occurs due to a guilty

plea. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988 (1996). For a guilty plea, a defendant "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 998 (quoting Hill, 474 U.S. at 59).

Nevada precedent reflects "that where a guilty plea is not coerced and the defendant [is] competently represented by counsel at the time it [is] entered, the subsequent conviction is not open to collateral attack and any errors are superseded by the plea of guilty." Powell v. Sheriff, Clark County, 85 Nev. 684, 687, 462 P.2d 756, 758 (1969) (citing Hall v. Warden, 83 Nev. 446, 434 P.2d 425 (1967)). In Woods v. State, the Nevada Supreme Court determined that a defendant lacked standing to challenge the validity of a plea agreement because he had "voluntarily entered into the plea agreement and accepted its attendant benefits." 114 Nev. 468, 477, 958 P.2d 91, 96 (1998).

Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court has explained:

"[A] guilty plea represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process. When a criminal defendant has solemnly admitted in open court that he is in fact guilty of the offense with which he is charged, he may not thereafter raise independent claims relating to the deprivation of constitutional rights that occurred prior to the entry of the guilty plea."

Webb v. State, 91 Nev. 469, 470, 538 P.2d 164, 165 (1975) (quoting Tollet v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 267, 93 S. Ct. 1602, 1608 (1973)). Indeed, entry of a guilty plea "waive[s] all constitutional claims based on events occurring prior to the entry of the plea[], except those involving voluntariness of the plea[] [itself]." Lyons, 100 Nev. at 431, 683 P.2d 505; see also, Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 999, 923 P.2d at 1114 ("Where the defendant has pleaded guilty, the only claims that may be raised thereafter are those involving the voluntariness of the plea itself and the effectiveness of counsel.").

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding sentencing structure because a review of the record in its entirety belies the claim. Beginning with the GPA and plea canvass transcript, both reflect that Appellant was aware of the potential range of punishment and that the sentences were consecutive. Appellant acknowledged, by signing the GPA:

I understand that as a consequence of my plea of guilty the Court must sentence me to imprisonment in the Nevada State Prison for Life with the possibility of parole with eligibility for parole beginning at ten (10) years; OR a definite term of twenty-five (25) years with eligibility for parole beginning at ten (10) years, *plus a consecutive* one (1) to twenty (20) for the deadly weapon enhancement.

1 PCR 6 (emphasis added). Appellant also acknowledged, "I have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone." 1 PCR 7. The court also engaged

Appellant in a discussion about the potential sentence before accepting Appellant's guilty plea:

THE COURT: ...The least amount of time I could give you on the bottom end is 11 years. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT GOMEZ: I -- I understand.

. . .

THE COURT: ... Now Mr. Palal can argue for the maximum time, which is a 10 to life and a consecutive 8 to 20. And obviously your lawyers are going to argue for the least amount of time. And then it' [sic] going to be up to me to look at everything and determine what, in my opinion, a fair sentence is. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT GOMEZ: I understand.

THE COURT: So you understand that those are the ranges?

DEFENDANT GOMEZ: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. And obviously it's not an easy thing to look at a plea where the least -- the best you're going to do is 11 years. That's the very best you can do. You understand that?

DEFENDANT GOMEZ: I understand.

1 PCR 068-69. (emphasis added). Thus, the record demonstrates that Appellant understood his sentences were consecutive and accordingly, counsel was not deficient.

Notably, the district court appointed an attorney to Appellant and held an evidentiary hearing to determine this exact claim - whether trial counsel explained

to Appellant that he would serve consecutive sentences. RA 038; 1-2 PCR 208-69. Ms. Levy testified at the evidentiary hearing that she visited Appellant over twenty times between the time she was appointed counsel and sentencing, always visiting Appellant with either her investigator or another attorney from her office. 1 PCR 215. Counsel testified under oath,

[W]e had gone over it, like I said, many, many times. I quizzed him on what the 40 percent rule was and the mandatory consecutive. I wrote it down for him. Mr. Retke and I, Mr. Marsh and I, Mariteresa from my office, all of us had gone over with him the range of penalties for a first with use, a second with use, voluntary with use, multiple, multiple times. So he understood the offer...I went over it...more times than I have with any other defendant in my 19 years of practice.

1 PCR 230. In addition to explaining to Appellant the different potential sentencing ranges, counsel also explained what "deadly weapon" meant and that it carried a consecutive sentence. 1 PCR 218. Appellant's counsel stated multiple times throughout her testimony that she explained the offer, potential consequences of accepting the offer or going to trial, and the details of the plea agreement. See generally 1 PCR 215-38.

Counsel's testimony that Appellant understood his sentences were consecutive was corroborated by Appellant's own witnesses – his sisters, Isabel and Maria Gomez. On direct examination, Isabel Gomez ("Isabel") testified that on the day Appellant pled guilty, counsel told her that there were two separate sentences

and "the max [Appellant] would be doing is about 10 years and then for the gun enhancement at least 2 to 4 years." 2 PCR 253. Further, on cross-examination, the State introduced a letter Isabel wrote, stating it was her and Appellant's understanding "that he would be sentenced for 10 years, *plus an added two for gun enhancement charges*." 2 PCR 255 (emphasis added). Isabel knew this was Appellant's understanding because that was what Appellant explained to her when she spoke to him over the phone. 2 PCR 255-56. Other than the day Appellant pled guilty, Isabel did not speak with Ms. Levy regarding sentencing. 2 PCR 253, 256.

Maria Gomez ("Maria") testified she was a primary person whom Ms. Levy spoke about Appellant's potential sentences. 2 PCR 259. One of the possibilities counsel discussed was "10 to 25, possibility of parole at 10. For the gun charges, she said 2 to 4 years. The maximum he would do was 12 years, 12 to 14 years." 2 PCR 259. Maria also testified that she understood Appellant would get out of imprison in ten to twenty-five years with the possibility of parole. 2 PCR 260. On cross-examination, Maria testified that she understood there was additional time because of the weapon enhancement:

Q: And your understanding was when the plea was done, he would have to do 10 years, 10 to 25 years; is that right?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. And then he would have to do an additional 2 or 4 years?

A: Yes.

2 PCR 262. Maria spoke to counsel whereas Isabel did not; instead, Isabel communicated with Appellant regarding his sentence. Yet, both Maria and Isabel, understood that Appellant's sentence was consecutive. Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion in finding that counsel adequately explained to Appellant that he would serve consecutive sentences.

Appellant represented to the district court orally, and affirmed by signing the GPA, that he was aware of the sentencing structure; Appellant's counsel testified she reviewed the plea agreement with Appellant until she was confident he understood the potential range of punishments (See 1 PCR 215-38); Appellant's own witnesses stated it was their and Appellant's understanding that he would receive additional time because of the gun enhancement. 2 PCR 255-56, 262. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's claim that counsel did not adequately explain that Appellant would serve consecutive sentences.

To the extent Appellant argues he only had fifteen minutes to review and understand the offer (AOB at 5), this contention is also belied by the record. The record shows that Appellant had more than one day to consider the offer and equally importantly, that counsel reviewed the offer with him at length prior to plea canvass.

Q [STATE]: So, Ms. Levy, I'm going to direct your attention to October 17th of 2017. I had sent you some transcripts of proceedings, have you reviewed them?

A: I did prior to the last time we were set, but I have not looked at them since that time.

Q: Okay. Well, let me ask you this, do you remember at that hearing that an offer was put on record by the State of a second with use, right to argue?

A: Yes.

Q: And do you remember indicating that you had received that offer earlier and that you had talked to Mr. Gomez about that?

A: Yes.

Q: And is that true, did you -- had you in fact talked to Mr. Gomez about the offer of a second with use?

A: Multiple times.

Q: When you spoke to him about the offer, did you talk to him about the sentencing ranges?

A: Yes, multiple times.

Q: And how did you explain what the sentencing range was on a second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon?

A: So even prior to the offer, I went over with Mr. Gomez multiple times at the jail what he was facing. If he was convicted of a first degree with a deadly weapon, second degree with a deadly weapon, voluntary manslaughter, and I went through the whole range and I would write it down for him. And I would go through, you know, that the minimum that you can get is always on a first would be 21 years because you would have 20 on bottom, plus the enhancement, which was 1 to 20 years. I explained to him he could get life without, I didn't think he would get life without. But even if he got life without, it would also include the deadly weapon enhancement for an additional 1 to 20 years, so it was mandatory consecutive.

So I wrote it down for him, I left those papers with him many times.

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